#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 16-1544 Scott County No. FECR301769

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

MICHAEL JEFFERSON, Defendant-Appellant.

> Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Scott County The Honorable Marlita A. Greve, Judge

### APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Les M. Blair III AT0000914 BLAIR & FITZSIMMONS, P.C. 850 White Street Dubuque, IA 52001-7035 Telephone: (563)588-1970 Facsimile: (563)556-4033

lblair@blairfitzsimmons.com ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### **PROOF OF SERVICE**

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
Division I: The District Court erred in denying Jefferson's Motion for Correction of an Illegal Sentence without affording Jefferson the assistance of counsel, the opportunity to be heard at a hearing, or an explanation for the basis of the denial.
<u>Furgison v. State</u> , 217 N.W.2d 613, 615 (Iowa 1974)
<u>Lado v. State</u> , 804 N.W.2d 248, 250 (Iowa 2011)
Pfister v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Polk Co., 688 N.W.2d 790, 795-96 (Iowa 2004)
State v. Becker, 818 N.W.2d 135, 141 (Iowa 2012)
<u>State v. Doornink</u> , 2015 WL5278925, at *1-2 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 10, 2015)
State v. Garza, 2014 WL 6804531, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 27, 2014)
<u>State v. Hendrickson</u> , 2014 WL 7343338, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 24, 2014)
State v. Justice, 2014 WL 5862041, at *1-2 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 13, 2014)
State v. Martin, 2015 WL1848564, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. April 22, 2015)

State v. Poulson, 2012 WL 1864790, at \*1-2 (Iowa Ct. App. May 23, 2012)

State v. Trueblood, 2014 WL 636167 \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 19, 2014)

State v. Webber, 15-0439 (Iowa Ct. App. July 27, 2016)

<u>Tindell v. Iowa Dist. Court for Scott Co.</u>, 600 N.W.2d 308, 309 11 (Iowa 1999)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.107(1)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.108

Iowa Code Section 814.6(2)(e) (2013)

#### 1. Denial of Assistance of Counsel

<u>Furgison v. State</u>, 217 N.W.2d 613, 615 (Iowa 1974)

<u>Gagnon v. Scarpelli</u>, 411 U.S. 778, 790-791, 93 S.Ct. 1756, 1764, 36 L.Ed.2d 656 (US 1973)

Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349, 358, 97 S.Ct. 1197, 1205, 51 L.Ed.2d 393, 402 (1977)

Hannan v. State, 732 N.W.2d 45, 52 (Iowa 2007)

<u>Hill v. United States</u>, 368 U.S. 424, 430, 82 S.Ct. 468, 472, 7 L.Ed.2d 417, 422 (1962)

<u>Iowa v. Tovar</u>, 541 U.S. 77, 80-81, 124 S.Ct. 1379, 1383, 158 L.2d 209 (2004)

<u>Larson v. Bennett</u>, 160 N.W.2d 303, 304-306 (Iowa 1968)

Pfister v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Polk Co., 688 N.W.2d 790, 795-96 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882, 883 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 871 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Casiano, 922 A.2d 1065, 1072 n.15 (Conn. 2007)

State v. Cooley, 608 N.W.2d 9, 17-18 (Iowa 2000)

<u>State v. Cortez</u>, No. 08-0882, 2009 WL 928873, at \*2-3 (Iowa Ct. App. April 8, 2009)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 618 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Hallock, 765 N.W.2d 598, 605-606 (Iowa Ct. App. 2009)

<u>State v. Hollingsworth</u>, No. 09-0456, 2009 WL 5126331, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 30, 2009)

State v. Lathrop, 781 N.W.2d 288, 293 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Ohnmacht, 342 N.W.2d 838, 843 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Rater, 568 N.W.2d 655, 661 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Young, 863 N.W.2d 249, 256-257 & 279 (Iowa 2015)

Tindell v. State, 629 N.W.2d 357, 359 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa Const. Art. I, Sec. 9

Iowa Const. Art. I, Sec. 10

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(1) & (5)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.28(1)

Iowa Code Section 815.10(1)

- U.S. Constitution Fifth Amendment
- U.S. Constitution Sixth Amendment
- U.S. Constitution Fourteenth Amendment

## 2. Denial of right to be heard, and failure to give any explanation of the basis for dismissing the motion

<u>Dykstra v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Jones Co.</u>, 783 N.W.2d 473, 482 (Iowa 2010)

Fuhrmann v. State, 433 N.W.2d 720, 722

Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 391-92, 84 S.Ct. 1774, 1789 (1964)

Manning v. State, 654 N.W.2d 555 (Iowa 2002)

Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 481, 92 S.Ct. 2593, 2600, 33 L.Ed.2d 484, 494 (1972)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 886 (Iowa 2009)

<u>State v. Clayton</u>, No. 13-1650, 2014 WL 7343315, at \*1 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 24, 2014)

State v. Denato, 173 N.W.2d 576, 579 (Iowa 1970)

State v. Hughes, 200 N.W.2d 559, 562 (Iowa 1972)

State v. Izzolena, 609 N.W.2d 541, 552 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Lillibridge, 519 N.W.2d 82, 83 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Oliver, 812 N.W.2d 636, 649-50 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Trudo, 253 N.W.2d 101, 104 (Iowa 1977)

State v. Willard, 756 N.W.2d 207, 214 (Iowa 2008)

<u>State v. Winfrey</u>, 221 J.W.2d 269, 271 (Iowa 1974)

Iowa Const. Art. I, Sec. 9

U.S. Constitution Fifth Amendment

U.S. Constitution Fourteenth Amendment

Division II: The existing record is sufficient to establish that the lifetime special sentence imposed on Appellant pursuant to Iowa Code section 903B.1 is grossly disproportionate to the crime that Jefferson committed, thereby violating the cruel and unusual punishment proscriptions contained within the United States Constitution and the Constitution of the State of Iowa. In the alternative, the matter should be remanded for an evidentiary hearing so that a proper evidentiary record can be developed.

<u>Graham v. Florida</u>, 560 U.S. 48, 59, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 2022, 176 L.Ed.2d 825, 837 (2010)

Kolzow v. State, 813 N.W.2d 731, 737-738 (Iowa 2012)

Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 103 S.Ct. 3001, 77 L.Ed.2d 637 (1983)

State v. Brooks, 760 N.W.2d 197, 204 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 871, 884, , 885-886 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Davis, 544 N.W.2d 453, 455 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 801 N.W.2d 513, 517 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Oliver, 812 N.W.2d 636, 647, 648, 649-50 (Iowa 2012)

<u>Tindell v. Iowa Dist. Court for Scott Co.</u>, 600 N.W.2d 308, 309 (Iowa1999)

Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349, 367, 30 S.Ct. 544, 549, 54 L.Ed2d 93(1910)

Iowa Const. Art. I, Sec. 17

Iowa R. App. P. 6.107(1)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.108

Iowa Code Section 814.6(2)(e) (2013)

Iowa Code Section 901B.1(1)(b)-(d) (2013)

Iowa Code Section 903B.1 (2013)

U.S. Constitution Eighth Amendment

#### 1. Ripeness

State v. Tripp, 776 N.W.2d 855, 859 (Iowa 2010)

## 2. Comparison of the gravity of the crime with the sentence imposed

Kolzow v. State, 813 N.W.2d 731, 735, 737-738 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 873, 883-884, 885 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Mossman, 281 P.3d 153, 172 (Kan. 2012)

State v. Oliver, 812 N.W.2d 636, 649, 650 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Seats, No. 13-1960, 2015 WL 3930169, at \*10 (Iowa June 26, 2015)

Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.2d 1 (2005)

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 55 (Iowa 2013)

Iowa Admin Code r. 201-45.2 (7/22/2015)

Iowa Code Section 709.4(2)(c)(4) (2013)

Iowa Code Section 901B.1(1)(b)-(d) (2013)

Iowa Department of Corrections, Research in Brief, Special Sentence Revocations, p. 1 (May 2010) (available at <a href="http://www.doc.state.ia.us/Publications/RIB-May10.pdf">http://www.doc.state.ia.us/Publications/RIB-May10.pdf</a>)

Legislative Services Agency, Fiscal Serv. Division, Fiscal Update, p. 13 (Oct. 13, 2014) (available at https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/FU/402805.pdf)

Sex Offender Research Council, Report to the Iowa General Assembly, p. 16 (Criminal & Juvenile Justice Planning January 2012)

## 3. Comparison of sentences imposed for other crimes within the jurisdiction

Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 312, 122 S.Ct. 2242, 2247, 153 L.Ed.2d 335, 345 (2002)

<u>Graham v. Florida</u>, 560 U.S. 48, 59, 71, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 2022, 2028, 176 L.Ed.2d 825, 843, 837 (2010)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 874 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Oliver, 812 N.W.2d 636, 647, 650 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Wade, 757 N.W.2d 618, 262 (Iowa 2008)

Iowa Code Section 707.4

Iowa Code Section 707.7

Iowa Code Section 707.8

Iowa Code Section 707A.2

Iowa Code Section 708.2(5)

Iowa Code Section 708.6

Iowa Code Section 708.11(3)

Iowa Code Section 708A.4

Iowa Code Section 709.2

Iowa Code Section 709.3

Iowa Code Section 709.4

Iowa Code Section 728.12

Iowa Department of Corrections, Research in Brief, Special Sentence Revocations, p. 1 (May 2010)

Richard Tewksbury, Wesley G. Jennings, & Kristen Zgoba, Sex Offenders: Recidivism and Collateral Consequences, 56 (National Criminal Justice Reference Service March 2012) (available at <a href="https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/238060.pdf">https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/238060.pdf</a>)

Sex Offender Research Council, Report to the Iowa General Assembly, p. 17 (Criminal & Juvenile Justice Planning January 2012)

Sex Offender Research Council, Report to the Iowa General Assembly, p. 4 (Criminal & Juvenile Justice Planning January 2013)

# **4.** Comparison of the sentences for similar crimes in other jurisdictions

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 387 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Mossman, 281 P.3d 153, 164-165, 166 (Kan. 2012)

State v. Oliver, 812 N.W.2d 636, 647 (Iowa 2012)

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issues raised involve substantial issues of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d). Specifically, guidance is necessary on the issues of entitlement to counsel, a hearing, and/or a meaningful statement of findings on a Motion for Correction of Illegal Sentence. Additionally, guidance is necessary on the issue of whether a gross proportionality challenge to a 903B.1 lifetime special sentence is valid under the circumstances of this case.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

## **Nature of the Case:**

In this case, Appellant appeals from the District Court's ruling entered on August 26, 2016, denying his Motion to Correct an Illegal Sentence.

## **Course of Proceedings:**

On May 23, 2007, the State filed the Trial Information in this matter charging the Appellant with the crime of Sexual Abuse in the Second

Degree in violation of Iowa Code section 709.3. (App. 2) The Appellant initially plead not guilty to this charge. (App. 1) On June 20, 2007, the State filed an Amended Trial Information which added Count II, a charge of Sexual Abuse in the Third Degree in violation of Section 709.4 of the Code of Iowa. On or about that same day, the Appellant appeared and plead guilty in open court to counts II of the amended trial information. (App. 9)

The Appellant filed a timely Motion in Arrest of Judgment.

Following a hearing, the Motion in Arrest of Judgment was denied and the matter was reset for sentencing. (App. 19) The Appellant then filed another Motion in Arrest of Judgment. Following another hearing, the second Motion in Arrest of Judgment was also denied and the matter was reset for sentencing. The matter then proceeded immediately to sentencing. (App. 20)

The Appellant eventually appeared before the Court on August 19, 2016, for sentencing. The Appellant was sentenced to 10 years in prison on Count II, which sentence was imposed and the Appellant was commended into the custody of the director of the Iowa Department of Corrections.

Count I was dismissed. The sentencing order placed the Appellant on the sex offender registry, but made no mention of any special sentence under

Iowa Code section 903B.1. (App. 20) On September 27, 2007, the Court entered an Order directing that the Appellant be brought back from prison for resentencing because the Court failed to notify the Appellant of the lifetime special sentence under Iowa Code section 903B.1 at the time of sentencing. That hearing was scheduled for October 4, 2007. (App. 21) Notice of Appeal was filed on October 1, 2007. (App. 22). On October 4, 2007, despite the pending appeal, the Appellant appeared again before the District Court and was resentenced, adding the lifetime special sentence under Iowa Code section 903B.1. (App. 23)

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Appellant's conviction, but vacated the sentence and remanded for resentencing by the District Court. (App. 24) The Appellant appeared before the District Court on November 13, 2008, and was resentenced. The Appellant was again sentenced to 10 years in prison on Count II, which sentence was imposed and the Appellant was commended into the custody of the director of the Iowa Department of Corrections. This time, the District Court placed the Appellant on the sex offender registry and also imposed the lifetime special sentence under Iowa Code section 903B.1. (App. 25)

In late 2011 or early 2012, the Appellant was released from prison

(the exact date is not clear from the record). He continued on parole supervision until January 11, 2014, when he was arrested for an alleged violation of his parole. (App. 27) Ultimately, he was found to have violated his parole and was sent back to prison for violation of the terms of his lifetime special sentence. (App. 30)

On May 19, 2016, the Appellant filed a Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence. He did request oral argument and evidentiary hearing. (App. 33) On May 26, 2016, the Court denied Appellant's Motion to Correct an Illegal Sentence without hearing, stating that the Court has not control over when the Appellant is released from his special sentence. (App. 36)

On August 9, 2016, the Appellant filed a new Motion to Correct an Illegal Sentence claiming new grounds. (App. 38) Simultaneous with the Motion, the Appellant filed an Application for Appointment of Counsel. (App. 54) Without hearing, the Court denied this Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence, stating that it was

denied for all the same reasons a previous Motion for Correction of an Illegal Sentence was denied. That order was filed on May 26, 2016. Defendant's motion to have counsel appointed for this motion is also denied. (App. 56)

Before that Order was entered, the Appellant prepared and mailed in a

Motion to Amend Original Filing of Correction of Sentence, which raised

additional new arguments and grounds. That Motion to Amend was dated August 23, 2016, and subsequently filed on August 29, 2016. (App. 58)

The Court subsequently issued an Order on September 7, 2016, stating

Defendant filed a third motion for correction of illegal sentence. This motion is denied for all of the same reasons the previous two motions were denied. (App. 63)

Notice of Appeal in this matter was filed on September 9, 2016, which specifically appealed from the District Court's Order filed on August 26, 2016, "and from all adverse rulings and orders inhering therein.." (App. 71)

It should also be noted that a Petition for Writ of Certiorari was also filed in this matter on September 8, 2016, in Supreme Court Case 16-1505.

(App. 65) The Supreme Court denied the Petition for Writ of Certiorari on October 7, 2016, noting that Appellant had another appeal pending (this one) wherein Appellant was represented by appointed counsel. (App. 73)

Procedendo issued on November 10, 2016. (App. 76)

### **Statement of the Facts:**

On November 13, 2008, the Appellant was sentenced to 10 years in prison for Sexual Abuse in the Third Degree in violation of Iowa Code section 907.4, which sentence was imposed and the Appellant was

commended into the custody of the director of the Iowa Department of Corrections. The District Court placed the Appellant on the sex offender registry and imposed the lifetime special sentence under Iowa Code section 903B.1. (App. 25)

In late 2011 or early 2012, the Appellant was released from prison and began serving his lifetime special sentence (the exact dates are not clear from the record). He continued on supervision until January 11, 2014, when he was arrested for an alleged violation of his parole. (App. 27) Ultimately, he was found to have violated his parole and was sent back to prison for violation of the terms of his lifetime special sentence and/or parole. (App. 30)

On May 19, 2016, the Appellant filed a Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence claiming that he had discharged his lifetime special sentence under Iowa Code section 903B.1... no other arguments were made. He did request oral argument and evidentiary hearing. (App. 33) On May 26, 2016, the Court denied Appellant's Motion to Correct an Illegal Sentence without hearing, stating that the Court has no control over when the Appellant is released from his special sentence. (App. 36)

On August 9, 2016, the Appellant filed a new Motion to Correct an

Illegal Sentence claiming that the lifetime special sentence was (1) a Bill of Attainder; (2) violated his rights under the Equal Protection Clause; (3) violated the separation of powers doctrine; (4) was unconstitutionally vague; (5) violated his constitutional rights of freedom of association, right to marry and have children, right to be free from bodily restraint, and right to travel; and (6) violated his right against self-incrimination under the 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment to the United State's Constitution. (App. 38) Simultaneous with the Motion, the Appellant filed an Application for Appointment of Counsel. (App. 54) Without hearing, the Court denied this Motion for Correction of Illegal Sentence, stating that it was

denied for all the same reasons a previous Motion for Correction of an Illegal Sentence was denied. That order was filed on May 26, 2016. Defendant's motion to have counsel appointed for this motion is also denied. (App. 56)

Before that Order was entered, the Appellant prepared and mailed in a Motion to Amend Original Filing of Correction of Sentence, which raised (1) a double jeopardy argument, (2) a cruel and unusual punishment argument, and various complaints about the validity of the underlying plea of guilty and whether it was knowing and voluntary. That Motion to Amend was dated August 23, 2016, and subsequently filed on August 29, 2016. The Court subsequently issued an Order on September 7, 2016,

stating

Defendant filed a third motion for correction of illegal sentence. This motion is denied for all of the same reasons the previous two motions were denied. (App. 63)

Notice of Appeal in this matter was filed on September 9, 2016, which specifically appealed from the District Court's Order filed on August 26, 2016, "and from all adverse rulings and orders inhering therein.." (App. 71)

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **Division I:**

The District Court erred in denying Jefferson's Motion for Correction of an Illegal Sentence without affording Jefferson the assistance of counsel, the opportunity to be heard at a hearing, or an explanation for the basis of the denial.

#### A. Preservation of Error

Contemporaneously with his Motion for Correction of Illegal Sentence filed on August 9, 2016, Appellant filed an Application for Appointment of Counsel to represent him on the motion. (App. 54) Additionally, Appellant's Motion for Correction of Illegal Sentence explicitly requested an "evidentiary hearing in this matter where all facts can be fully and fairly determined." (App. 38)

The district court summarily denied the motion for correction of illegal sentence without any hearing, merely stating that the Motion was

denied for all the same reasons a previous Motion for Correction of an Illegal Sentence was denied. That order was filed on May 26, 2016. Defendant's motion to have counsel appointed for this motion is also denied. (App. 56)

However, the Motion for Correction of Illegal Sentence filed on August 9, 2016, was based on completely different grounds than the Motion for Correction of Illegal Sentence that was denied in May of 2016. (App. 33) By stating that the Motion filed in August was denied "for all the same reasons", the Court was basically admitting that it did not really read the two Motions and provided no real reason for the denial.

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