IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 16-1544

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

MICHAEL JEFFERSON,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR SCOTT COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE MARLITA A. GREVE, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**SHARON K. HALL**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
(515) 281-4902 (fax)  
[sharon.hall@iowa.gov](mailto:sharon.hall@iowa.gov)

MICHAEL J. WALTON  
Scott County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

Likewise, “through appeal” as used in Rule 2.28(1) does not include motions to correct to an illegal sentence made after expiration of the appeal period. The Wyoming Supreme Court interpreted a similar statutory provision to not provide a right to counsel for a motion to correct an illegal sentence filed after expiration of the appeal period or after the conclusion of a defendant’s direct appeal. *See Gould v. State*, 151 P.3d 261, 268-69 (Wyo. 2006). Wyoming’s statute on the appointment of counsel states that an indigent defendant is entitled

[t]o be represented by counsel at every stage of the proceedings, from the time of the initial appointment by the court until the entry of final judgment, at which time the representation shall end, unless the court appoints counsel for purposes of appeal, correction or modification of sentence.

Wyoming § 7-6-104(c)(vi). The Wyoming Supreme Court determined the above statute did not create an absolute right to counsel. *Gould*, 151 P.3d 261 at 268-69.

Jefferson’s reliance on *State v. Casiano*, 922 A.2d 1065 (Conn. 2007) is also misplaced. In that case, the Connecticut Supreme Court interpreted its statutory provision, which provided for the appointment of counsel in “any criminal proceeding,” to require the appointment of counsel for a motion to correct an illegal sentence. Unlike Iowa’s rule of criminal procedure, however, the Connecticut statute “does not qualify or limit the term [any criminal action] in any way.” *Id.* at 1070. While predecessor statutes had explicitly limited the term “any criminal action” to “any criminal action in the court of common pleas” and “any criminal action in the circuit court,” *Id.*, the Connecticut legislature amended the statute to remove those limitations. *Id.* *Casiano* is therefore not instructive when interpreting Iowa’s rule on appointment of counsel.

### **B. Constitutional Rights.**

The Sixth Amendment to the federal constitution affords an accused facing incarceration the right to counsel “[a]t all critical stages of the criminal process.” *State v. Majeres*, 722 N.W.2d 179, 182 (Iowa 2006). A motion to correct an illegal sentence is not a “critical stage” of a criminal prosecution.

“[T]he United States Supreme Court has clearly announced the right to appointed counsel for a convicted criminal extends only to the first appeal of right, not to a collateral appeal on a conviction that has long since become final upon the exhaustion of the appellate process.” *Fuhrmann v. State*, 433 N.W.2d 720, 722 (Iowa 1988) (citing *Pennsylvania v. Finley*, 481 U.S. 551, 552 (1987)) (finding indigent defendants are not entitled to court-appointed counsel during postconviction relief); *see also Finley*, 481 U.S. at 555 (“We think that since a defendant has no federal constitutional right to counsel when pursuing a discretionary appeal on direct review of his conviction, *a fortiori*, he has no such right when attacking a conviction that has long since become final upon exhaustion of the appellate process.”). Because a motion to correct an illegal sentence is an attempt to reopen a criminal case, potentially long after a criminal judgment is final and direct appeal concluded, a defendant does not have a right to court-appointed counsel.

Other jurisdictions have also determined motions to correct an illegal sentence do not constitute a “critical stage” of proceedings. In *Patrick*, the Wyoming Supreme Court determined that a motion to correct an illegal sentence is not a “critical stage.” *Patrick v. State*,

108 P.3d 838, 844 (Wyo. 2005). The Georgia Court of Appeals has also rejected the argument that a motion to correct an illegal sentence is a “critical stage,” stating, “[t]he Constitution does not even require states with multi-tiered appellate systems to appoint appellate counsel through the exhaustion of an indigent defendant’s discretionary direct appeals.” *Jordan v. State*, 530 S.E.2d 42, 45 (Ga. Ct. App. 2000), *disapproved of on other grounds by Shields v. State*, 581 S.Ed.2d 536 (Ga. 2003).

Iowa courts construing the Sixth Amendment have held that it “applies only to criminal prosecutions,” and “has no application” outside of that limited context. *See Leonard v. State*, 461 N.W.2d 465, 468 (Iowa 1990) (citing *State v. Wright*, 456 N.W.2d 661, 664-65 (Iowa 1990)). Even though Jefferson’s lifetime special sentence was imposed as part of a mandated penalty for his criminal offense—and even though the defendant’s motions were docketed in that same criminal action—that does not mean that a motion to correct an illegal sentence is part of a “criminal prosecution” and within the purview of the Sixth Amendment. The parallel provision of the Iowa Constitution is construed identically in this regard. *See Furhmann*, 433 N.W.2d at 722.

The Iowa Court of Appeals has considered the question of whether a constitutional right to counsel attaches with a motion to correct illegal sentence, and consistently rejected such arguments. *State v. Titus*, 2016 WL 2745938, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. May 11, 2016); *State v. Cohrs*, 2016 WL 146526, at \*1-\*3 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 13, 2016); *State v. Johnson*, 2015 WL 6509543, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 28, 2015); *State v. Hendrickson*, 2014 WL 7343338, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 24, 2014). Because Jefferson’s motions were not part of his criminal prosecution nor a critical stage, no federal constitutional right to counsel attached.

**C. Iowa Constitution.**

Jefferson further argues that under article I, section 10 of the Iowa Constitution a “motion for correction of illegal sentence clearly implicates the life or liberty . . . .” Appellant’s Brief pp.37-38. His argument rests solely upon the language in article I, section 10 that extends rights to the accused “in cases involving the life, or liberty of an individual.” This argument misapprehends the meaning of that language.

The “life or liberty” language in article I, section 10 was specifically added “for the purpose of providing that instead of the

fugitive slave having the trial by jury where his labor may be done, he shall have his trial here; . . . that any slave in the territory of this state shall have the right to assert his freedom, and cannot be remanded back into slavery.” See THE DEBATES OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION OF THE STATE OF IOWA 736 (W. Blair Lord rep., 1857) [hereinafter THE DEBATES]. Accordingly, the debate over this language focused on the rights of a person accused of being a fugitive slave:

I claim that no State can be sovereign, no people can be independent, without a right reposed in that people, and in that sovereignty, to protect its own people, and to determine within the jurisdiction of that sovereignty the right of the people found there to life or liberty. I hold that unless we have the right to make a constitution which will secure to me the right of jury trial, if I am claimed as a fugitive slave, without that right we are not a sovereign people. Without that right we cannot protect every individual member of society.

*Id.* at 737; *Young*, 863 N.W.2d at 284 n.2 (Mansfield, J., dissenting) (“[T]he contemporary debates indicate this provision was meant to protect persons claimed to be subject to return as fugitive slaves.”).

Similarly, opposition to the inclusion of this language did not touch upon any other issue; instead, it focused on the wisdom and constitutionality of refusing to remit a fugitive slave to the custody of another state:

The undersigned can, (whether so intended or not) only look on the amendment as it stands as a full and complete nullification of [Article IV, Section 2 of the U.S. Constitution and the Fugitive Slave Act], and a solemn protest against complying with the demands that may be made for persons who may have escaped from other States in either case.

THE DEBATES at 654. This was about slavery, “contradistinguished from criminal law, and disconnected from any proceedings in the enforcement of the criminal law of the State.” *Id.* at 653.

The framers of the Iowa Constitution viewed the right to trial by jury—and not the right to counsel—as the component of article I, section 10 that would protect Iowans from overzealous prosecution and from attempts to claim them as fugitive slaves. *Id.* at 738 (“We are a sovereign State that will allow me the right of a jury trial when the value of a sixpence is brought into controversy; and yet when I am put upon trial for my liberty, . . . I am deprived of that right.”); *Id.* at 739 (“I say that every man sought to be reclaimed as a fugitive slave has a right to a trial by jury”). And the right to a jury trial was particularly important in the context of the Fugitive Slave Act because of the nature of the recapture proceedings it authorized:

Under the Fugitive Slave Act a slaveowner from another state could obtain a “certificate of right” in an ex parte proceeding in his home state and present it in a free

state like Iowa as conclusive proof of his right to the return of an alleged fugitive slave. . . .

[. . .]

No one can doubt from the convention record that the disputed language was added to Art. I s 10 in an effort to nullify the Fugitive Slave Act by giving persons accused as escaped slaves the right to jury trial in Iowa.

*In re Johnson*, 257 N.W.2d 47, 53–54 (Iowa 1977) (McCormick, J., concurring) (citing THE DEBATES at 102, 651–54, 736–38). This weighs against reading the “cases involving life or liberty” language to create any sort of post-conviction right to counsel in contexts where the accused has already invoked or waived his or her all-important right to trial by jury.

The Iowa Supreme Court has already held article I, section 10 is inapplicable to “an individual facing potential civil commitment pursuant to Iowa's [sexually violent predator] statute” because, in the absence of claims brought under the Fugitive Slave Act that could trigger the cases-involving-life-or-liberty clause, “this provision only applies to criminal proceedings.” *See Atwood v. Vilsack*, 725 N.W.2d 641, 650–51 (Iowa 2006). In this case Jefferson, much like the plaintiffs in *Atwood*, faces a deprivation of liberty imposed following conviction and sentencing for a sex offense—and if the involuntary commitment in *Atwood* was outside the scope of article I, section 10,

then supervised release on parole must be outside of its scope as well.

*See id.*

Accordingly, the “cases involving life and liberty” language of article I, section 10 does not create an Iowa constitutional right to counsel that attaches upon filing a motion to correct an illegal sentence.

**D. Due Process.**

The due process provisions of the federal constitution and the Iowa Constitution “are nearly identical in scope, import and purpose.” *See State v. Seering*, 701 N.W.2d 655, 662 (Iowa 2005) (quoting *State v. Hernandez-Lopez*, 639 N.W.2d 226, 237 (Iowa 2002)). Due process can extend constitutional rights to counsel to a proceeding outside of the context of a criminal prosecution if that particular proceeding “might directly result in incarceration.” *See State ex rel. Hamilton v. Snodgrass*, 325 N.W.2d 740, 742 (Iowa 1982) (citing *McNabb v. Osmundson*, 315 N.W.2d 9, 14 (Iowa 1982)); *see generally Gagnon v. Scarpelli*, 411 U.S. 778 (1973). That principle is inapplicable here because the lifetime special sentence was imposed through the original sentencing proceeding, and no additional loss of liberty was threatened by the proceedings on the

defendant’s motion, this proceeding “did not entail the potential for a loss of liberty.” *See State v. Wentland*, 2013 WL 105340, at \*8 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 9, 2013); *cf. Greenholtz v. Inmates of Neb. Penal and Correctional Complex*, 442 U.S. 1, 10 (1979) (“[T]here is a human difference between losing what one has and not getting what one wants.”).

Because these proceedings threatened no direct loss of liberty, this was a case where “the trial court has discretion to ascertain whether the claim is substantial before granting a full evidentiary hearing” and before determining whether it would be “useful to appoint counsel.” *See Larson v. Bennett*, 160 N.W.2d 303, 305 (Iowa 1968). This standard of review is extremely deferential—an abuse of discretion is found only when a court exercises discretion “on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable.” *State v. Thomas*, 547 N.W.2d 223, 225 (Iowa 1996) (citing *State v. Neary*, 470 N.W.2d 27, 29 (Iowa 1991)). Showing an abuse of discretion requires establishing that the court reached “an erroneous conclusion and judgment, one clearly against logic and effect of facts and circumstances before the court, or the reasonable, probable and actual deductions to be drawn therefrom.” *See Glenn v. Farmland*

*Foods, Inc.*, 344 N.W.2d 240, 243 (Iowa 1984) (quoting *Dep't of Gen. Serv. v. R.M. Boggs Co.*, 336 N.W.2d 408, 410 (Iowa 1983)).

Jefferson argues that counsel should have been appointed “[g]iven the complicated legal and factual issues raised” by his gross disproportionality challenge. Appellant’s Brief p.39. Any standard for appointment of counsel that incentivizes pro se movants to complicate or confuse legal issues only invites trouble. Moreover, determining whether a defendant was “capable of speaking effectively for himself” would only have been necessary if the district court found the motion presented a “colorable claim.” *See Pfister v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Polk County*, 688 N.W.2d 790, 795–96 (Iowa 2004) (quoting *Gagnon*, 411 U.S. at 790). The court’s orders unequivocally indicate that it did not; the State will address why that determination was correct below in division II.

Because Jefferson’s motion did not threaten a direct loss of liberty, whether a hearing was necessary was left to the discretion of the trial court. Jefferson has not shown the court had statutory authority to appoint counsel in this context. The Court should therefore find Jefferson did not have a statutory or constitutional right to counsel to assist in his challenge to an allegedly illegal special

sentence. The district court did not err in electing not to appoint counsel prior to ruling on his motions.

**II. The District Court Correctly Rejected Jefferson’s Cruel and Unusual Punishment Challenge to His Section 903B.1 Lifetime Special Sentence Without Granting an Evidentiary Hearing. Jefferson’s Motion for Correction of Illegal Sentence Failed to Raise an Inference of Gross Disproportionality as Applied.**

**Preservation of Error**

Jefferson may challenge a sentence as unconstitutional or illegal at any time. *See State v. Lyle*, 854 N.W.2d 378, 382 (Iowa 2014); *State v. Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d 862, 871 (Iowa 2009); Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a). Error was preserved on the challenge to the denial of his third motion for correction of an illegal sentence without a hearing by timely filing the notice of appeal from that order. Notice of Appeal (9/09/16); App. 73-75. As to specific constitutional claims asserted in his second and third motions, Jefferson has waived error on all claims other than cruel and unusual punishment by electing not to raise and argue those on appeal.<sup>4</sup> Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(3).

The State agrees Jefferson’s challenge to the lifetime special sentence is ripe for review because he is presently serving a prison

---

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